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BRUNSWICK-GLYNN COUNTY JOINT 
WATER & SEWER COMMISSION 

January 10, 2020 

PROJECT: Request for Proposal No. 20-028 – Advanced Metering 
Infrastructure and Meter Data Management System for the 
BGJWSC 

ADDENDUM: Three (3) 

DUE DATE: TUESDAY, January 28, 2020 12:00PM, NOON 

THIS ADDENDUM IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ANSWERING THE FOLLOWING 
QUESTIONS: 

1) QUESTION:  Page STR-6, Section 4.2.1 – What ANSI Tier Rating is being
required, or does BGJWSC have a particular brand and model box they
intend to specify?

ANSWER: Tier 15. Please reference attached spec sheet. 

2) QUESTION:  What is the end goal of the Pilot Program?

ANSWER:  The goal of the Pilot Program is to confirm that the guarantees 
regarding billing system integration and meter data transfer made within 
the proposal can be met. 
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3) QUESTION:  Please clarify the longevity of the maintenance plan? 
 

ANSWER: The maintenance plan regarding software shall be renewable 
annually. Should the BGJWSC choose to internalize network hardware 
maintenance at a later date, the BGJWSC will work with the provider to 
determine appropriate cost to purchase the installed data collection 
hardware at that time.  
 

4) QUESTION:  What are the options for financing? 
 
ANSWER: The JWSC intends to provide financing. However, if the proposer 
has financing available, please present the terms for comparison. 
 

5) QUESTION: What is the pricing/installation process? Are there specific 
boxes? Should they be replaced like for like (curb stop, backflow) 

 
ANSWER:  Please see attached Construction Details 
 

6) QUESTION: Are there large meters with strainers? If so, could JWSC please 
provide the specs? 
 
ANSWER: Please see attached Construction Details. 
 

7) QUESTION: Is the contractor required to keep metal lids? 
 
ANSWER:  A drop off location for surplus inventory will be provided by the 

JWSC to facilitate recycling.  
 

8) QUESTION: Are the 1 ½” and 2” dual check meters unserviceable? 
 
ANSWER: Yes. Where larger meters have dual check backflow preventers 
attached, existing units may be used where possible. No replacement is 
necessary of unserviceable dual checks. Where testable devices exist, 
they are to remain in place as they are the property and responsibility of 
the customer.  
 

9) QUESTION: How many meters are in asphalt or concrete? 
 
ANSWER: That is unknown at this time.  
 

10)  QUESTION: Will specs for vaults be released? 
 
ANSWER: Please see attached Construction Details.  
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11)  QUESTION: Does the JWSC have access to street lights or electric poles 
from the municipalities or electric providers within your service area? If so, 
will the JWSC provide a listing of these assets so we can utilize within our 
AMI planning and propagation analysis? 
 
ANSWER: No, we do not. All locations and assets have been provided in 
the Dropbox link.  
 

12)  QUESTION: Would the JWSC reconsider using digital display meters if we 
can prove that there are benefits to the customer that the analog meters 
cannot provide? 
 
ANSWER: No. JWSC needs the fall back of an analog dial to accommodate 
the utility in the instance that the digital LCD screen goes blank.  
 

13)  QUESTION: Is the JWSC open to have the lids cut or drilled to 
accommodate RF antenna vs. lid replacement? 
 
ANSWER: Yes, meters greater than 1 ½” should be drilled. Please see 
attached standard 
 

14)  QUESTION: Will BGJWSC be sending customer notifications that 
backflows will be installed and that an expansion tank is needed? 
 
ANSWER: Yes. Public education efforts will take place to advise of 
expansion tank and/or pressure relief valve requirements.  
 

15)  QUESTION: Are any BGJWSC meters on risers? 
 
ANSWER: Yes, and those shall remain in place.  
 

16)  QUESTION: Are BGJWSC 1.5” and 2” meters flanged or screw type? 
 
ANSWER: To the best of our knowledge, all 1.5” and 2” meters are flanged 
type.  
 

17)  QUESTION: Will any 1.5” through 8” meters be replaced during the Pilot? 
 
ANSWER: Only 5/8” x ¾” and 1” meters will be replaced during the Pilot 
 

18)  QUESTION: Is the NaaS solution BGJWSC is requesting defined as a 
managed network completely owned and maintained by bidder or a third 
party contracted by the bidder? Meaning the BGJWSC does not want to 
purchase or own the network or hardware (Gateways, Bay stations, 
Collectors) for a determined length of time. 
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ANSWER: The BGJWSC does not intend to own or maintain any of the 
NaaS hardware at this time. 
 

19)  QUESTION: It is our understanding that BGJWSC is requesting an AMI 
solution with mobile redundancy. Is BGJWSC requiring a minimum read 
success rate (i.e – 90% or 95% over a 3 day billing read) via the AMI 
network with regards that 100% of the system will have AMI capable 
meters? 
 
ANSWER: BGJWSC expects 90% success rate over three days of 
attempted data retrieval via network with a 100% success rate with the AMI 
system, overall. The mobile drive by data collection backup is to ensure 
that BGJWSC still gets the reads if a network data collector goes down or 
if there is some other type of failure. 
 

20)  QUESTION: Is the mass meter change out data required to be 
electronically transferred to Harris? Is this the responsibility of the bidder? 
 
ANSWER: No. The proposer will need to supply meter information and 
ttransceiver information that can be imported into the Harris system. 
 

21)  QUESTION: Is the AMI network operation “guarantee” a minimum of 10 
years for each installed phase? 
 
ANSWER: Yes. The network shall be guaranteed a minimum of 10 years 
from the date of the last meter/transceiver installation within the project 
scope. As previously answered, the maintenance contract will then be 
approved year to year. If the BGJWSC chooses not to renew the 
maintenance contract at any point, the BGJWSC will negotiate with the 
provider to assume full ownership and responsibility of the network data 
collectors. 
 

22)  QUESTION: Will BGJWSC mark/locate each meter prior to the survey 
grade data collection process beginning? 
 
ANSWER: No, the BGJWSC will not have the resources available to locate 
and mark every meter. This needs to be done during the installation of the 
new meter. BGJWSC staff will help locate meters in the event that the 
installer cannot find it within 20 minutes. Once the contract has been 
awarded, you may send a team to locate and GPS the meters 
independently and ahead of the meter installation team.  
 

23)  QUESTION: Will BGJWSC be available at all times during the meter swap 
out process to respond to potential emergency situations that may occur 
outside the scope and ability of the contractor to repair? 
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ANSWER: Yes, staff will be available in the event of an emergency.  
 

24)  QUESTION: Following up from the pre-bid meeting, will the vault and meter 
set detail documents that BGJWSC will be releasing contain specific 
manufacturer model numbers? If not, will potential bidders be given a list 
of these items? 
 
ANSWER: Yes, please see attached documents. 
  

25)  QUESTION: Regarding Addendum #2, Question 6, will BGJWSC provide 
tank heights for all of the 25 tanks? 
 

ANSWER:  All measurements for tanks are provided in the Dropbox link 
from Addendum 1, 
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/vp6iugt6nddb53c/AADUQ7dTDXnYFSt3M4Sqz
81Da?dl=0 
 

26)  QUESTION: Regarding Addendum #2, Question 6, will BGJWSC provide a 
list of all RF equipment currently installed on infrastructure along with the 
frequency ranges in use? 
 
ANSWER: Only cellular equipment is presently installed on the Elevated 

Storage Tanks. 
 

27)  QUESTION: Regarding Addendum #2, Question 13, if a performance 
guarantee or service level guarantee is submitted by different bidders, will 
the Pilot Program be used to differentiate proof of concept and/or 
capabilities? 
 
ANSWER: The BGJWSC intends to choose only one vendor for the Pilot 
Program based on all contributed performance or service level 
guarantees. Failure to meet expectations during the pilot will result in 
moving to the next highest qualified bidder. 
 

28)  QUESTION: Regarding Addendum #2, Question 17, Open AMI is not clearly 
defined within the question nor the answer. The Q&A seems to indicate the 
meaning behind the verbiage to indicate a multi-utility solution. We, 
however, interpret this type of network to be adhering to the global 
networking standards. This is normally meant to indicate that a third party 
will own the infrastructure, and will charge either the endpoint 
manufacturer or the end customer re-occurring service fees to utilize back 
haul of the data. Since BGJWSC will not own the back haul network, will 
BGJWSC provide easements for the site locations? 
 
 
 

https://www.dropbox.com/sh/vp6iugt6nddb53c/AADUQ7dTDXnYFSt3M4Sqz81Da?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/vp6iugt6nddb53c/AADUQ7dTDXnYFSt3M4Sqz81Da?dl=0
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ANSWER: Access easements/right-of-entry agreements shall be provided 
by the BGJWSC for each data collector location to enable maintenance 
and repair by the proposer for so long as the maintenance contract is 
renewed by the BGJWSC 
 
 

29)  QUESTION: Regarding Addendum #2, Question 17, since the network will 
not allow the third party to sell other users (not BGJWSC) connection 
services through the network, will BGJWSC require a rental fee for the 
property being used to facilitate this type of commerce? 
 
ANSWER: Should other users find value from use of the equipment, terms 
will be negotiated at that time.  
 

30)  QUESTION: Regarding Addendum #2, Question 17, how long of a term will 
BGJWSC grant for an easement into the site in the event BGJWSC decides 
to transition to a different network in the future? 
 
ANSWER: Unless BGJWSC and provider negotiate a purchase agreement 
for the infrastructure at termination of maintenance agreement, provider 
will have ninety days to remove network infrastructure. 
 

31)  QUESTION: Regarding Addendum #2, Question 17, if this network is 
chosen, may other manufacturers resubmit costs for endpoints/meters that 
have interoperability with the awarded third party network provider? 
 
ANSWER: Following the award of the contract for the Pilot Program, the 
BGJWSC will only consider changing network providers or meters if the 
pilot does not meet standard. A single source will then be used throughout 
the project scope.  
 

32)  QUESTION: Will BGJWSC provide all of the vendors with a GPS service 
area map? 
 

ANSWER: Yes, a full service area map is included in the following Dropbox 
link in map grade, 
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/vp6iugt6nddb53c/AADUQ7dTDXnYFSt3M4Sqz
81Da?dl=0 
 
 

33)  QUESTION: Most manufacturers will not “lock” pricing for a period greater 
than 12 months. Due to the projected length of 5 years for this project from 
start to completion, will there be an allowance for a COST increase based 
on actual verifiable material and labor cost increases or an accepted 
government financial index or a commodities index? This will allow for 

https://www.dropbox.com/sh/vp6iugt6nddb53c/AADUQ7dTDXnYFSt3M4Sqz81Da?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/vp6iugt6nddb53c/AADUQ7dTDXnYFSt3M4Sqz81Da?dl=0


Page / 7 RFP No. 20-028 – AMI & MDMS         ADDENDUM NO. 3 

 

better or more accurate front end pricing for BGJWSC at the beginning of 
the project. 
 
ANSWER: To be consistent in our up-front evaluation, all proposals are to 
be developed over the entire project period using present values.  
  

34)  QUESTION: Is BGJWSC a tax exempt entity in regards to federal and state 
(not sales tax). 
 
ANSWER: The BGJWSC is exempt from federal, state, and local taxes, 
including sales tax.  
 

35)  QUESTION: In Addendum #2, Question 2, it stated that a GA contractor’s 
license would not be required for this project. However, based on current 
GA Title 43 for Utility Contractors, a “utility system” is described as “any 
system at least five feet underground, when installed or accessed by 
trenching, open cut, cut and cover, or other similar construction methods 
which install or access the system from the ground surface, including but 
not limited to, gas distribution systems, electrical distribution systems, 
communication systems, water supply systems, and sanitary sewerage 
drainage systems and reservoirs and filtration plants, water and waste-
water treatment plants, leachate collection and treatment systems 
associated with landfills or pump stations, when the system distributes or 
collects a service, product, or commodity for which a fee or price is paid 
for said service, product or commodity or for the disposal of said service, 
product, or commodity”. Therefore, wouldn’t a GA Licensed Utility 
Contractor be required for the installation of the meters? 
 
ANSWER: Yes, a GA Contractor’s license will be required for this project. 
Please disregard the answer in Addendum 2.  

 
36)  QUESTION: A project of this scope and size should have a detailed site 

survey with drawings on the typical meter site for each type and size of 
meter conducted on all meter locations. When will this be available to the 
proposers? 
 
ANSWER: Please see attached Construction Details.  
 

37)  QUESTION: Is the BGJWSC doing one trial of an AMI system with the RFP 
solution provider or will there be multiple trials? 
 
ANSWER: Only one award for the Pilot Program shall be made. 
 

38)  QUESTION: What does the BGJWSC consider to be a successful trial? 
Meter to Collector? Meter to Cash? 
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ANSWER: Meter-to-Collector. A successful trial will require 90% read 
success rate via collector wil no more than 10% required for drive-by 
within three days of route initialization. During the Pilot Program, Meter-to-
Cash will not be scored as BGJWSC expects some challenges in 
integration with Harris CIS. 
 

39)  QUESTION: How long will the trial be after it has been set up? 
 
ANSWER: Per Section 5.0 of the RFP, the Pilot Program will begin May 1, 
2020 and last until no later than January 1, 2021. The trial may be 
considered successful sooner.  
 

40)  QUESTION: Who owns the equipment after the trial, if it is not successful? 
What happens to the equipment after the trial? Who is responsible for 
removing it? 
 
ANSWER: The vendor will be responsible for the full cost of the phase-in 
of all required data collectors. If the vendor is abandoned during the pilot, 
ninety days would be given for hardware removal by the vendor unless 
terms can be negotiated for the BGJWSC to purchase the equipment.  
 

41)  QUESTION: Is the BGJWSC interested in a company taking the risk and 
responsibility for the full system maintenance or any part of it? 
 
ANSWER: The BGJWSC will expect a quote for the annual maintenance 
cost of the network. At this time there is no interest in a full meter service 
program. 
 

42)  QUESTION: What is the brand, part number, and size of the backflow 
preventer currently being used? 
 
ANSWER:  ¾” Watts LF7R Dual Check 10XU2 
  1” Watts LF7 Dual Check 10-U2 
 

43)  QUESTION: If backflow devices are to be installed, are there expansion 
tanks on the property water tanks? 
ANSWER: As the BGJWSC does not keep records of private plumbing 
compliance with National Plumbing Code standards, public education 
efforts will take place to advise of expansion tank and/or pressure relief 
valve requirement to reduce exposure. Compliance is measured/enforced 
by Glynn County or the City of Brunswick ONLY, not BGJWSC.  
 

44)  QUESTION: If backflow is not currently being used, who is responsible for 
the potential damage to existing water heaters that do not have expansion 
tanks? 
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ANSWER: The property owner will bear the responsibility of potential 
damage.  
 

45)  QUESTION: Does the installer have to install the backflow and is there an 
installation drawing? 
 
ANSWER: To ease proposal preparation and evaluation, each meter below 
3” should include pricing for box, lid, and dual check backflow preventer. 
 

46)  QUESTION: How does the BGJWSC define an open AMI system? 
 
ANSWER: The BGJWSC defines open AMI as providing us with access to 
a hybrid system of data collection from various endpoints and protocols 
using a a single network data collection backbone capable of reading 
cellular, mesh, or other communications types. 
 

47)  QUESTION: Does an open AMI system include being compatible with Gas 
and Electric Meters and/or accepting input from remote sensors? 
 
ANSWER: The BGJWSC intends to use an AMI system that can read 
compatible water meters. Gas and electric meter reading is not required.  
 

48)  QUESTION: Does the BGJWSC require remote disconnect valve 
functionality, and if so for how many meters? 
 
ANSWER: Remote disconnect valve is not required at this time.  
 

49)  QUESTION: Why is the requirement for a 5 year installation? If financially 
advantageous, would the BGJWSC consider a short term frame for the full 
installation? 
 
ANSWER: In order to avoid large investment and future rate of failure 
concerns, the phased installation is a requirement.  
 

50)  QUESTION: In regards to the hosted system, is there a preference on 
having the server hosted on-site or cloud based? 
 
ANSWER: Please reference Section 4.2.3 of the RFP, which states that 
initially the system shall be remotely hosted. Following the Pilot Program, 
the terms of the maintenance contract may allow the BGJWSC to host the 
system locally.  
 

51)  QUESTION: What is the version of the BGJWSC billing software? Is it the 
latest version? 
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ANSWER: The BGJWSC uses the Innoprise Customer Information and 
Billing System from Harris. It is the latest version – R3.32.0 
 

52)  QUESTION: Does the BGJWSC have a location for storing the equipment? 
If not, will proposals need to include warehousing? 
 
ANSWER: Warehousing will be provided by the BGJWSC 
 

53)  QUESTION:  The Price Sheet states: “The Proposer is to list separately 
individual pricing of all meters in Proposal. Water meters will be listed as 
module costs, composite meter box and lid costs, Nicor connection costs, 
or integrated water meters with modules at cost for various sizes of water 
pipe. (PSF-8)”.  Will replacement of meter box and lid be included with the 
line item for meter change out? Are all boxes and lids to be replaced up to 
2”, because under this heading it lists all meter sizes? 
 
ANSWER: To ease proposal preparation and evaluation, each meter below 
3” should include pricing for box, lid, and dual check backflow preventer.  
 

54) QUESTION: Does the BGJWSC intend to replace all meters or will some 
need to just be retrofitted, because it states there is battery failure? 
 
ANSWER: All meters are to be replaced.  
 

55)  QUESTION: The RFP states, “The proposals shall include the design and 
installation of all aspects associated with the system, including but not 
limited to meters, meter boxes, lids, backflow preventers, (up to and 
including 2” meters), registers, transmitters, and antenna mounts as 
needed to properly operate the system. Piping adjustments necessary due 
to lay length changes must be accommodated by Proposers. Proposers 
will work in conjunction with BGJWSC staff to accommodate any needed 
changes to vaults or setters for all meters 3” and above in size”. Is the 
Contractor required to replace backflow preventers, and if yes, on all of the 
meters? Are there existing backflows and who provides the backflows? 
 
ANSWER: To ease proposal preparation and evaluation, each meter below 
3” should include pricing for box, lid, and dual check backflow preventer.  
 
 

56)  QUESTION: Will the BGJWSC consider adding line items for replacing 
meter boxes and backflows? 
ANSWER: To ease proposal preparation and evaluation, each meter below 
3” should include pricing for box, lid, and dual check backflow preventer. 
 

57)  QUESTION: What is the existing meter brand/brands? 
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ANSWER: The present system contains approximately 28,000 Badger AMR 
and 2,000 Metron-Farnier cellular AMI. 
 

58)  QUESTION: Please clarify what is meant by “Proposers will work in 
conjunction with BGJWSC staff to accommodate any needed changed to 
vaults or setters for all meters 3” and above in size”. 
 
ANSWER: As a state-licensed distribution technician may be required, 
BGJWSC staff will assist with replacement of meters in vaults requiring 
maintenance and rehabilitation. Heavy equipment, such as an excavator, 
will be provided along with an operator.  
 

59)  QUESTION: Over the 4 year period, will 7,000+ meters be installed over the 
entire 1 year or will the Contractor be able to install all 7,000+ meters in 5-6 
months? 
 

ANSWER: The meters in each phase of the contract can be installed as 
quickly as possible.  
 

60)  QUESTION: Will BGJWSC take into consideration an expedited timeframe 
to complete this project? 
 
ANSWER: In order to avoid large investment and future rate of failure 
concerns, the phased installation is required.  
 

61)  QUESTION: What is the approximate geographic area of the meters to be 
covered under this contract? 
 
ANSWER: Diameter of 18 miles.  
 

62)  QUESTION: Who will take possession of the old meters? 
 
ANSWER: A drop off location for surplus inventory will be provided to the 
selected proposer by the BGJWSC to facilitate recycling.  
 

63)  QUESTION: What is the material of the existing meter box lids? 
 
ANSWER: Cast iron, plastic, and composite lids are currently present 
 

64)  QUESTION: Are there existing holes in the lids? 
 
ANSWER: Yes, although not in the majority as cast iron is the prevalent 
material.  
 

65)  QUESTION: What percentage of meter boxes are located in concrete or 
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asphalt? 
 
ANSWER: Please reference Question #9 of this Addendum 
 

66)   QUESTION: Do all settings have shut off valves before the meters? 
 
ANSWER: Yes. 
 

67)  QUESTION: Are all valves in the meter box? 
 
ANSWER: No. 
 

68)  QUESTION: What is the procedure for inoperable or broken valves? 
 
ANSWER: BGJWSC staff will respond and repair as needed.  
 

69)  QUESTION: Will the proposer/contractor be installing any additional 
product, i.e broken shut off valves, curb stops, set box to grade? 
 
ANSWER: Valves on the utility side of the meter are to be replaced by 
BGJWSC staff. The proposer will set box to grade.  
 

70)  QUESTION: Will the BGJWSC have an area to drop a storage container? 
 
ANSWER: Yes.  
 

71)  QUESTION: What is the primary service line make-up (plastic, copper, 
galvanized)? 
 
ANSWER: Galvanized is the most common with plastic and copper 
installed as well.  
 

72)  QUESTION: Are the meters in setters or are the connected with straight 
meter couplings? 
 
ANSWER: Both exist. 
 

73)  QUESTION: For large meters 3” and above, are there drawings/pictures of 
these settings? Will the Contractor be required to make modifications to 
these settings, provide material, etc? 
ANSWER: Please see attached Construction Standards. 
 

74)  QUESTION: Do the existing 1 ½” and 2” meters have flanged or threaded 
ends? 
 
ANSWER:  To the best of our knowledge, all 1 ½” and 2” meters are 
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flanged. 
 

75)  QUESTION: Would potential proposers be allowed to inspect the current 
BGJWSC infrastructure prior to submitting their proposals? 
 
ANSWER: No. There will be no additional site visits will be allowed as the 

deadline for questions has officially passed. 
 

76)  QUESTION: Will galvanized fittings be accepted as an option for this 
proposal? 
 
ANSWER: No, BGJWSC will not accept any galvanized fittings.  
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All applicants under this Request for Proposal are kindly requested to acknowledge receipt 

of this Addendum in original only. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

ADDENDUM: THREE (3) 

 DATE:______________________ 

The above Addendum is hereby acknowledged: 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

(NAME OF BIDDER) 

______________________________ _______________________________ 

Signature    Title 
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PRICING SHEET 
Submit a quote for contingency labor items that may occur during installation. All contingency items 

are at the discretion of the city, and approval must be granted before any contingency work is 

performed. 
 

Potential Contingency Labor Items                                                                    Unit Price 
 

Replace Meter Box / Box Only / Plastic & Cast Iron   ________ 
 

Replace Plastic Lid       ________ 
 

Replace Cast Iron or Concrete Lid     ________ 
 

Reset or Regrade Existing Meter Box     ________ 
 

Insert Hole in Plastic Lid for Transceiver     ________ 
 

Insert Hole in Cast Iron Lid for Transceiver    ________ 
 

Replace Curb Stop – 5/8” – 3/4"     ________ 
 

Replace Dual Check – 5/8” – 3/4"     ________  
 

Replace Curb Stop – 1”       ________ 
 

Replace Dual Check – 1”      ________ 
 

Large Meter Replumbing (Per Crew Hour)    ________ 
 

Excessive Root Removal (2” Diameter and Larger)   ________ 
 

 



Meter box - 1 and 5/8



1 meter setup-end



1 meter setup-end-2nd end



1  inch meter box



1 1/2 & 2 inch meter box



2 Inch Meter and Meter Setter
















